IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 2 9 2001 CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC01-202

v.

NASH N. CRONIN, ET AL., Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

EDWARD C. HILL, JR. ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 238041

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4593 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellant in the First District Court of Appeal and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Nash N. Cronin, Et Al., the Appellee in the First District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or his proper name.

The record on appeal consists of three volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number in parentheses.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The defendants in this case were originally charged by indictment issued by the statewide grand jury with violations of Florida's RICO Act.

Subsequently, the Statewide Prosecutor filed a superseding information. Count one of the information charged a RICO violation counts 2-24 charged violations of Florida's antisolicitation statute, § 817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997)

Among the various motions filed by the defendants were motions to dismiss counts 2-24 of the information. (R2 347-356) The motion alleged that counts 2-24 of information did not allege a

crime. The argument, based on a new appellate decision, was that an essential element of the crime created by the legislature in § 817.234(8) Fla. Stat. was an intent to defraud. Since, the information did not allege an intent to defraud and informations must allege the elements of the crimes charged, the defendants argued that the court must dismiss the information. (R2 347-356)

The state filed a written response. (R3 357-368) The response asserted that the legislature did not include fraud as an element and never intended fraud to be part of the antisolicitation sections. The state argued that the intent was to preclude unethical solicitation and protect the privacy of citizens. The state also argued that the language relied upon by the motion to dismiss was dicta.

The trial court heard argument on the motion. (R3 408-435) At the hearing, each side expanded on their written positions. The state argued the intent **of** the legislature and **the** plain meaning of the language of the statute. The state also asserted that the opinion being relied upon was factually and legally incorrect. (R3 422-429) The trial court subsequently granted the motion to dismiss. (R3 377-381) The trial court's order provided:

This matter came before the Court on the joint Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendants pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140. Defendants are charged with one count of violating \$895.02(3), Florida Statutes, Participation in a Corrupt Enterprise. The charge is based on twenty-two (22) separate counts of Insurance Solicitation, in violation of \$817.234(8), Florida Statutes.

Defendants are chiropractors and affiliated corporations charged with soliciting patients with the

intent of filing insurance claims to be paid by the patient's Personal Injury Protection ("PIP") insurance carrier. Defendants assert that the Information charging them in the instant case fails to allege a material element of the crime of Insurance Solicitation. Specifically, they contend that since the Information does not allege the Defendants committed their acts with an intent to defraud insurance carriers or file fraudulent insurance claims, it fails to allege all material elements required for a violation of \$817.234(8), Florida Statutes. In support of their position, Defendants have submitted the case of Bradford v. State, 1999 WL 436823 (Fla. 4th DCA June 30, 1999).

In Bradford, the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the statute in question prohibits "...only solicitations made for the sole purpose of defrauding that patient's PIP insurer...[i]n other words, a chiropractor may solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happens to get paid for his services by the patient's PIP insurance, as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer." Accordingly, the Court held, \$817.234(8), Florida Statutes did not unconstitutionally punish only lawful activity (and thus was not overbroad) because that section of the statute was required to be read in pari materia with \$817.234(1), Florida Statutes, which contains a requirement that false insurance representations be made "...with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer. " The Court noted that subsection (8), however, "does not speak directly to the state's interest in preventing insurance fraud."

The <u>Bradford</u> Court was purporting to clarify its earlier opinion on Barr v. State, 731 So.2d 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999). In <u>Barr</u>, the Court held that the statute was constitutional and that it "targets only those persons who solicit business for the sole purpose of making motor vehicle tort or **PIP** benefits claims." <u>Id.</u> at 129. According to the <u>Barr</u> opinion, "...it only prohibits the chiropractor from soliciting a prospective patient for the purpose of receiving payment from that patient's PIP insurance." <u>Id.</u> at 130. Nowhere does <u>Barr</u> mention or set forth the requirement, discussed in <u>Bradford</u>, that subsection (8) be read in pari materia with subsection (1) or that subsection (8) requires not simply that a defendant solicit business with the intent to file a claim for or

be paid from PIP benefits, but that a defendant intends to file a fraudulent PIP claim.

Nonetheless, <u>Bradford</u> engrafts this additional requirement onto the <u>Barr</u> analysis. According to Defendants herein, the State has failed to allege a violation of subsection (1), and has failed to allege that the actions of the Defendants were undertaken with the intention of filing fraudulent PIP claims. During argument on this issue, the State all but conceded that it could not establish intent to defraud on the part of these Defendants; the State's position was, rather, that it was not required to do so, and should merely be required to show that Defendants acted with the intent to file claims for PIP benefits, regardless of the validity of those PIP claims.

While <u>Barr</u> would seemingly support the State's position, the opinion in <u>Bradford</u> appears to mandate a different result. By requiring subsections (1) and (8) to be read in pari materia, and by further stating that as long as solicitation is not made with the intent to file a fraudulent claim, the <u>Bradford</u> opinion indicates that fraudulent intent is indeed a necessary element of a crime charged under subsection (8).

This Court recognizes that:

As a general rule, an information must allege each of the essential elements of a crime to be valid. However, because the legislature has the primary authority for defining crimes, it will be the rare instance that an information tracking the language of the statute defining the crime will be found to be insufficient to put the accused on notice of the misconduct charged. Further..an information will not be dismissed on account of any defect in the information unless the court shall be for the

¹The <u>Barr</u> Court noted that the solicitation made by Barr was "...unlawful only because it violated section 817.234(8), and not for any other reason.'' <u>Barr</u>, supra, at 123. The court further recognized that the purposes behind the statute were at least twofold: to combat insurance fraud and to prevent the costs of paying fraudulent claims from being passed on to the consumer. The Court recognized that, while subsection (8) was "...not the least restrictive means available" to achieve these purposes, since it banned **all** solicitation, it was nonetheless constitutional. The Court further held that the statute did not violate due process because it "...only prohibits the chiropractor from soliciting a prospective patient for the purpose of receiving payment from the patient's PIP insurance." Id. at 130.

opinion that the indictment or information is so vague, indistinct, and indefinite as to mislead the accused and embarrass him or her in the preparation of a defense or expose the accused after conviction or acquittal to substantial danger of a new prosecution for the same offense.

Chicone v. State, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996) (citations omitted). However, it is equally clear that the elements of an offense cannot be established by mere inference. State v. VonDeck, 607 So.2d 1388 (Fla. 1992). An information failing to allege an essential element of a crime does not charge an offense. Akins v. State, 691 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 19978). Here, the Court is bound to accept the Bradford Court's pronouncement that subsection (8) requires an element of fraudulent intent. Since that element has not been alleged, and may not merely be inferred without significant prejudice to Defendants' ability to prepare their defense or insulate themselves from future prosecution for the same behavior, the Court is constrained to grant Defendant's Motion.

(R3 377 - 381)

From this Order dismissing counts 2-24 of the information, the state filed a timely notice of appeal. (R3 385)

The appellate court determined that the trial court erred in finding that the statute required an intent to defraud. However, the appellate court held that the statute was an unconstitutional limitation on commercial speech. The court also certified conflict with the cases of Bradford, Barr, Hansbrough, and Hershkowitz. Bradford and Hansbrough, and Hershkowitz. Bradford and Hansbrough are pending in this Court.

Based on the Court's finding a statute unconstitutional and its certification, the state invoked the jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should apply the test of <u>Central Hudson</u> and find that § 817.234 Florida Statutes is constitutional as there exists a substantial governmental interest in restricting the commercial speech, the regulations directly advance the asserted interest, and the regulation is narrowly tailored.

Alternatively, this Court should find the statute constitutional by employing a narrowing construction of the term solicit. This would be in accordance with this Courts historic role interpreting the meaning of statutory language chosen by the legislature. Further, this would be in accord with the interpretation of the term solicit found in the Fourth District and the Third District opinions. Finally, this interpretation would be in accordance with the legislative language found in the statutory section which indicates that it intended to limit the statute to personal contacts.

Therefore, the statute should be found constitutional and the decision below quashed.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

ARE THE ANTISOLICITATION PROVISIONS OF FLORIDA STATUTE § 817.234(8) AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL RESTRICTION ON COMMERCIAL SPEECH?

The District Court found that the antisolicitation provisions of § 817.234 Florida Statutes to be an unconstitutional restriction on commercial speech. The state respectfully disagrees.

Jurisdiction

In its decision, the District Court found the section 817.234(8) Fla Stat. unconstitutional and also certified that its decision was in conflict with decisions of other District Courts. Thus, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution which provides the Supreme Court:

(1) Shall hear appeals from final judgments of trial courts imposing the death penalty and from decisions of district courts of appeal declaring invalid a state statute or a provision of the state constitution.

FL CONST Art. 5 § 3, Supreme court

Additionally, because the District Court certified conflict with decisions of other District Courts, this Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution which provides that the Supreme Court:

(3) May review any decision of a district court of appeal that expressly declares valid a state statute, or that expressly construes a provision of the state or federal constitution, or that expressly affects a class of constitutional or state officers, or that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another

district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

FL CONST Art. 5 \$ 3, Supreme court

Therefore, this Court has jurisdiction

Standard of Review

The issue before this Court is an issue of the constitutionality of a statute. Constitutional challenges to a statute are reviewed de novo. Dep'tof Ins. v. Kevs Title & Abstract Co., 741 So. 2d 599, 601 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), review denied, 710 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 2000) (stating that a trial court's decision on the constitutionality of a statute is reviewed by the de novo standard because it presents a pure issue of law and the appellate court is not required to defer to the judgment of the trial court); United States v. Head, 178 F.3d 1205, 1206 (11th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1094, 120 S.Ct. 833, 145 L.Ed.2d 700 (2000) (noting that a district court's interpretation of the sentencing guidelines and statutes are reviewed de novo).

The Statute and Pending Cases

The statute in question is § 817.234 Fla. Stat. (1997) Issues relating to its constitutionality are pending before this Court in Bradford v. State, 740 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) rev. granted State v. Bradford, 761 So.2d 331 (Fla. 2000) and Hansborough v. State, 757 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) rev. granted Hansbrough v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly 47, --- So.2d ---- (Fla. Nov. 13, 2000).

The statute in question provides:

- 817.234. False and fraudulent insurance claims
- (1)(a) Any person who, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer:
- 1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim;
- 2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or
- 3. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading information or written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any insurance policy, or who conceals information concerning any fact material to such application commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (b) All claims and application forms shall contain a statement that is approved by the Department of Insurance that clearly states in substance the following: "Any person who knowingly and with intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a statement of claim or an application containing any false, incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of the third degree." The changes in this paragraph relating to applications shall take effect on March 1, 1996.
- (2) Any physician licensed under chapter 458, osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460, or other practitioner licensed under the laws of this

state who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any insured party to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or urging by said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. In the event that a physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner is adjudicated quilty of a violation of this section, the Board of Medicine as set forth in chapter 458, the Board of Osteopathic Medicine as set forth in chapter 459, the Board of Chiropractic Medicine as set forth in chapter 460, or other appropriate licensing authority shall hold an administrative hearing to consider the imposition of administrative sanctions as provided by law against said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner.

- (3) Any attorney who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any claimant to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or urging on such attorney's part, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (4) No person or governmental unit licensed under chapter 395 to maintain or operate a hospital, and no administrator or employee of any such hospital, shall knowingly and willfully allow the use of the facilities of said hospital by an insured party in a scheme or conspiracy to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627. Any hospital administrator or employee who violates this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. Any adjudication of guilt for a violation of this subsection, or the use of business practices demonstrating a pattern indicating that the spirit of the law set forth in this section or part XI of chapter 627 is not being followed, shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license to operate the hospital or the imposition of an administrative penalty of up to \$5,000 by the licensing agency, as set forth in chapter 395.

- (5) Any insurer damaged as a result of a violation of any provision of this section when there has been a criminal adjudication of guilt shall have a cause of action to recover compensatory damages, plus all reasonable investigation and litigation expenses, including attorneys' fees, at the trial and appellate courts.
- (6) For the purposes of this section, "statement" includes, but is not limited to, any notice, statement, proof of loss, bill of lading, invoice, account, estimate of property damages, bill for services, diagnosis, prescription, hospital or doctor records, X ray, test result, or other evidence of loss, injury, or expense.
- (7) The provisions of this section shall also apply as to any insurer or adjusting firm or its agents or representatives who, with intent, injure, defraud, or deceive any claimant with regard to any claim. The claimant shall have the right to recover the damages provided in this section.
- (8) It is unlawful for any person, in his or her individual capacity or in his or her capacity as a public or private employee, or for any firm, corporation, partnership, or association, to solicit any business in or about city receiving hospitals, city and county receiving hospitals, county hospitals, justice courts, or municipal courts; in any public institution; in any public place; upon any public street or highway; in or about private hospitals, sanitariums, or any private institution; or upon private property of any character whatsoever for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627. 736. Any person who violates the provisions of this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (9) It is unlawful for any attorney to solicit any business relating to the representation of persons injured in a motor vehicle accident for the purpose of filing a motor vehicle tort claim or a claim for personal injury protection benefits required by s. **627.736.** The solicitation by advertising of any business by an attorney relating to the representation of a person injured in a specific motor vehicle accident is prohibited by this section. Any attorney who violates the provisions of this subsection commits

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