FILED THOMAS D. HALL

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA MAY 2 4 2001

STATE OF FLORIDA,  Petitioner,  V.  NASH CRONIN, et al.,  Respondents.	) ) Case Number: ) L.T. Case No. ) ) )	
JOINT ANSWER BRIEF WARFIELD, LAKEWOOD FLORIDA HEALT: CHIROPRACTIC CASMAR, INC N. CRON Hen Flo Aar Flo BED Pro The	OF DEFENDANTS/RESPOND CHIROPRACTIC CLINIC H CARE, INC., d/b/a WE CENTER, MARK E. KLE C., CRAIG J. OSWALD, WIN, AND DEBORAH COMBETTION OF METCALF DELL, DITTMAR, DeVAUL OF DELL, DITTMAR, DeVAUL OF DESSIONAL ASSOCIATION BENEFIT OF BEN	NDENTS STEVEN P.A, NORTH WARFIELD MPNER, NASH S T, PILLANS & COXE
Tel	cksonville, Florida 3 Lephone: (904) 35 csimile: (904) 35	3-0211

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

Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), does not directly and materially advance the state's interest unless intent to defraud is an element of the offense. There is no

evidentiary support that banning solicitation of accident victims directly and materially helps prevent insurance fraud. See Edenfield v. Fane, 507 U.S. 761, 771 (1993) (holding that the burden is on the state to support the connection with evidence). Section 817.234(8), without a fraud element, thus "provides only ineffective or remote for support the government's purpose, " and is an unconstitutional restriction on commercial speech. <u>See</u> <u>Central Hudson</u>, 447 U.S. at 564; see also 44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island, 517 U.S. 484 (1996) (holding that a complete statutory ban on price advertising of alcoholic beverages was unconstitutional because there was no evidence to suggest that the restriction on speech would significantly reduce market-wide consumption of alcoholic beverages and, th-us, any significant change in consumption would be purely fortuitous); Edenfield, 507 U.S. at 771 (holding that the fact that the defendant's conduct was merely non-misleading solicitation of business highlighted the tenuous connection between the state's interest in preventing fraud and a ban on direct, in-person solicitation by CPAs). Accordingly, the record in this case fails to establish that

the statute directly and materially advances a substantial state interest.

3. Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), is not narrowly tailored to the state's asserted interest in preventing insurance fraud.

Even assuming that Section 817.234 (8), Florida Statutes (1997), directly advances the state's interest in preventing insurance fraud, the statute is unconstitutional because the statute is not "narrowly tailored to achieve the desired objective." Went for It, Inc., 515 U.S. at 632. As the United States Supreme Court has stated, "the free flow of commercial information is valuable enough to justify imposing on would-be regulators the costs of distinguishing the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the harmless from the harmful." Shapero V. Kentucky Bar Ass'n, 486 U.S. 466, 478 (1988).

Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), makes no attempt to distinguish that which is offensive from that which

is not, and instead bans all solicitation of accident victims by professionals regardless of time, place, manner, or fraudulent intent. As the appellate court below stated:

The statute as written is far too broad in terms of the scope of activities it can potentially reach. Proof of any advertisement for chiropractic services which solicits business from automobile accident victims would arquably be sufficient to get a prosecutor past a motion for judgment of acquittal in a prosecution based on an alleged violation of the statute, the theory being that the advertiser or solicitor obviously intended to be paid for his or her services with the reference to accident being considered as evidence of an intent to access recoverable claims, damages, or PIP benefits. fact that a prospective client may have had a legitimate need for chiropractic services as a result of an automobile accident would be irrelevant given that the statute contains no requirement that there be an intent to defraud.

Cronin, 774 So.2d at 875. Every solicitation of an accident victim by a professional 'has the potential of being funded by the proceeds of a tort settlement or PIP claim." Id. at 876. Thus, contrary to the fourth district's holding in Barr, the statute is not "narrowly tailored [merely] because it only

relates to solicitations made for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for PIP benefits." <u>Id.</u>

"In Bailey v. Morales, 190 F.3d 320 (5th Cir. 1999), the fifth circuit held that restrictions on commercial speech less expansive than those challenged here ſunder 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997)] were unconstitutional because they were not reasonably tailored to achieve the state's asserted interests." Cronin, 774 So.2d at 875. similar statute at issue in <a>Bailey</a> applied only to in-person or telephone solicitation by professionals, if the professional knew the person solicited had a special need for services because of an accident or pre-existing condition. See Bailey, 190 F.3d at 321. Nevertheless, the Bailey court held that the statute was "neither reasonably tailored nor reasonably proportional to the harm the State seeks to prevent." Id. at 325; see also Gresorv V. Louisiana Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners, 608 So.2d 987 (La. 1992); Silvermanv. <u>Walkup</u>, 21 F.Supp.2d 775 (E.D. Tenn. 1998).

During the session just adjourned, the Legislature rewrote Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes. Fla. CS for SB 1092, § 7 (2001) (First Engrossed). As rewritten, the statute limits the breadth of solicitations made unlawful by exempting advertising directed to the public. The rewritten statute likely cannot survive the <u>Central Hudson</u> test. <u>See Bailey v.</u> 190 F.2d 320 (5th Cir. 1999) Morales, unconstitutional a similar statute which applied only to inperson or telephone solicitations); Cronin, 774 So.2d at 875 (First District rejecting the state's proposed narrowing construction of the statute consistent with the just-rewritten version and citing <u>Bailey</u> with approval). However, rewritten statute is more narrowly tailored than the version at issue in the instant case and reflects the Legislature's recognition of the constitutional infirmity of Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997).

The Legislature also addressed the problems of insurance fraud which are at the heart of this case. In 2001 Florida Senate Bill Number 1092, the Legislature proposed numerous changes to the statutory scheme for PIP and motor vehicle no-

fault law. Proposed changes include: limiting charges for certain diagnostic and other procedures; requiring registration and other requirements for health care providers who qualify as "PIP clinics"; creating civil causes of action for insurance fraud, patient brokering, and PIP kickbacks; and prohibiting brokering of the use of medical equipment. See Fla. CS for SB 1092 (2001) (First Engrossed). The changes indicate the Legislature's ability to directly and materially address problems associated with insurance fraud, without prohibiting more protected commercial speech than necessary.

As the First District recognized, Section 817.234(8) is not reasonably tailored to the state's interest in preventing insurance fraud because it criminalizes too broad a scope of activity. Cronin, 774 So.2d at 875-76; see also Bailey, 190 F.3d at 325. The statute also has only a tenuous correlation, at best, to insurance fraud. For those reasons, Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), unconstitutionally restricts commercial speech protected by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution.

11. If the Court adopts a narrowing construction, Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), must require an intent to defraud.

Assuming arguendo that the statute is capable of constitutional construction, the onlypermissible construction requires an element of intent to defraud. The courts have a duty to construe statutes in favor of constitutionality if a constitutional construction is consistent with the legislative intent ascertainable from the statute or with the statute's common sense application. <u>See</u> <u>State v. Globe Communications</u> Corp., 648 So.2d 110, 113 (Fla. 1994); Lons v. State, 622 So.2d 536, 537-38 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 629 So.2d 133 Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), (1993). unconstitutionally restricts commercial speech absent a permissible narrowing construction. Therefore, this Court determine whether a constitutional construction, must consistent with the Legislature's intent, is indicated by the plain statutory language or common sense. Arguably, none is. See Cronin, 774 So.2d at 874-75. However, if such a construction exists, it is that the statute was intended to

apply only to situations in which the solicitor acts with an intent to defraud an insurer.

- A. The indicia of legislative intent show that Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), was meant to address solicitations with fraudulent intent.
  - 1. The grand jury reports.

Throughout the instant case and other similar cases, the state has asserted a Dade County Grand Jury Report, Fall Term 1974, filed August 11, 1975 (the "First Grand Jury Report"), as the definitive word on the Legislature's intent with respect to subsection (8). R1, pp. 86-87; R2, pp. 155-56; R3, pp. 365-66; State's Initial Brief to the First DCA at 20-21; see also Barr, 731 So.2d at 129. A careful reading of the First Grand Jury report shows that fraudulent practices were the concern of the grand jury. The "problem" of so-called 'runners" soliciting accident victims was addressed in the report only in the context of insurance fraud schemes. See Appendix A to State's Initial Brief to the First DCA at 5-6.

The First Grand Jury Report dealt exclusively with outright fraud by doctors and lawyers in the form of unnecessary referrals by lawyers to medical providers, and unnecessary hospitalizations and treatments by medical personnel for the purpose of piercing the \$1,000.00 PIP threshold which previously existed under Section 637.737, Florida Statutes. Appendix A to State's Initial Brief to the First DCA at 5-6. The use of runners was merely incidental to the fraud schemes described. The grand jury's recommendations omitted any reference to "runners" or non-fraudulent insurance solicitation.

On August 17, 2000, the Fifteenth Statewide Grand Jury issued an interim report (the "Second Grand Jury Report") revisiting the issues raised in the First Grand Jury Report. See Appendix "B" to State's Initial Brief. Despite the Grand

The Second Grand Jury Report appears to have been a direct response to the <u>Bradford</u> decision and the trial court's dismissal of the instant case. <u>See</u> Appendix "B" to State's Initial Brief at 6. Because it was issued long after Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997), was enacted, the Second Grand Jury Report obviously does not express the Legislature's intent with respect to the statute. The Second Grand Jury Report is mentioned here only to reinforce the conclusions derived from the First Grand Jury Report.

Jury's observations that accident victim solicitation can be harassing, the report reinforces that the real problem at issue, insurance fraud, has not changed since the issuance of the First Grand Jury Report. See, e.g., Appendix "B" to State's Initial Brief at 18-19 (stating in conclusion: "Fueled by the easy flow of insurance money, . . . PIP fraud is taking a large bite out of every Floridian's insurance budget. The huge profits from this fraud allow runners to make a killing . . . . ")

The First Grand Jury Report demonstrated that fraudulent practices by doctors and lawyers were the concern of the Legislature when it passed what became Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997). The Second Grand Jury Report shows that insurance fraud continues to be the evil the state is seeking to stamp out. These reports support the notion that the Legislature's intent in enacting subsection (8) was to prohibit insurance solicitation done with an intent to defraud an insurer,

2. The state's assertions of legislative intent in the instant case support intent to defraud as an element of the offense.

In the instant case, the state argued that the legislative history of Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997) dictated that the crime described was one of fraud.<sup>8</sup> R2, p. 180. According to the state:

When one solicits another for purposes of injury protection acquiring personal benefits or motor vehicle tort claims, the beginning stage of "fraudulent activity" i.e., fraudulent insurance claims. Thus, insurance solicitation under section 817.234 is fraudulent in nature and clearly fits within the purview of the violations of Chapter 817 "relating to fraudulent practices, false pretenses, generally, and credit card crimes."

R2, p. 185. The state also argued that the title of Chapter 817, "Fraudulent Practices," and the title of Section 817.234,

<sup>% [</sup>T]he Legislature's intention was that Section 817.234(8) be 'logically and naturally associated' , . . with 'fraudulent practices'" (R2, p. 181); the statute is "associated with fraud' as established by the legislative history." R2, p. 187.

"False and Fraudulent Insurance Claims," indicated the Legislature's intent that Section 817.234(8) describe a fraud offense. R2, p. 185. An essential element of any fraud offense is intent to defraud. Thus, the grounds for the state's assertions of legislative intent support that intent to defraud is an intended element of the offense described by Section 817.234(8).

### 3. Enactment of subsection (8) in same session as subsection (1) (a).

The court in <u>Bradford</u> read subsections (8) and (1)(a)<sup>9</sup> of Section 817.234 *in pari materia* because subsection (8) was added in the same legislative session in which (I)(a) was amended and both subsections deal with the same subject matter, <u>Bradford</u>, 740 So.2d at 571; <u>see also</u> § 1.04, Fla. Stat.<sup>10</sup> Laws of Florida, Chapter 77-468, Section 36,

<sup>&</sup>quot;A person commits insurance fraud punishable as provided in subsection (11) if that person, with the **intent to injure, defraud,** or **deceive** any insurer [commits any of the enumerated acts]." § 817.234(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added).

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Acts passed during the **same** legislative session and amending the same statutory provision are *in pari* materia, and

substantially amended Section 627.7375(1), Florida Statutes, and added new subsections, including subsection (8)  $\cdot$ <sup>11</sup>

As the <u>Bradford</u> court stated, reading the two subsections in *pari materia* suggests that intent to defraud was meant to be an element of **any** offense under subsection (8). <u>Bradford</u>, 740 So.2d at 571. Under that reading, the statute would directly advance the state's asserted interest in preventing insurance fraud and would be narrowly tailored to achieve that goal.

Assuming Section 817.234(8) can be narrowly construed, consistent with the foregoing indicators of the Legislature's intent and in a way which preserves its constitutionality, it must be read as criminalizing only those solicitations done with an intent to defraud. Under that reading,

a chiropractor [would be able to] solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happen[ed] to get paid for

full effect should be given to each, if that is possible." § 1.04, Fla. Stat.

Section 627.7375, Florida Statutes **was** the predecessor to Section 817,234, Florida Statutes (1997).

his services by the patient's PIP insurance, as long as he [did] not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer.

Bradford, 740 So.2d at 571. That construction would appropriately tailor the statute to the state's asserted interest in preventing insurance fraud and thereby preserve the statute's constitutionality.

# B. The state's suggested narrowing construction is not supported by any indicia of legislative intent.

The state argues that the statute should be narrowly construed as applying only to in-person or telephonic solicitations. Nothing in the statute or its legislative history suggests that the Legislature intended the state's proposed construction. Cronin, 774 So.2d at 875. Even if the state's proposed narrowing construction was supported, it is unlikely that the interpretation would save the statute. See Bailey, 190 F.3d at 321 (holding that a similar, Texas statute which applied only to in-person or telephone solicitation was

not properly tailored to the state's interest in preventing insurance fraud).

#### III. Alternative grounds for affirmance.

Whether this court determines that the statute unconstitutionally infringes on the Defendants' rights guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, or is constitutional because the statute can fairly be read as requiring intent to defraud as an element of the offense, the Court should approve the decision below in its affirmance of the trial court's order dismissing the charges against the Defendants.

#### CONCLUSION

The Court should approve the affirmance of the trial court's order granting Defendants' motion to dismiss the information. Section 817.234(8), Florida Statutes (1997) is unconstitutional under the <u>Central Hudson</u> test. If not, the solicitation subsection can with stand constitutional challenge only by requiring pleading and proof of an element of intent

to defraud, which the state has conceded it cannot allege in good faith in this case.